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INFORMATION/BRIEFING MEMORANDUM

DATE:  February 21, 2019 

FROM: Robert Burdick, Rangeland Management Specialist 
Mount Lewis Field Office, Battle Mountain District Office 
Bureau of Land Management  

SUBJECT: 

The purpose of this memorandum is to describe the history of grazing use within the Shannon 
Station/Spanish Gulch Allotment. This memorandum confirms that current grazing preferences 
within the Shannon Station/Spanish Gulch Allotment are held by 2 Bit Ranch, LLC and 
Baumann Family Trust. In addition, this memorandum confirms that Peter J. and Gladys P. 
Goicoechea have not held the grazing preference for this allotment since the grazing adjudication 
in 1965.    

BACKGROUND: 

The Battle Mountain Grazing District No. 6 was established in 1951, which was five years after 
the creation of the Bureau of Land Management and after the era of the Grazing Service (1934 - 
1946). This was the last grazing district to be established in the West. In order to establish a 
grazing district at this time, the ranchers in an area had to petition the Secretary of the Interior. In 
1937, the ranchers in this area held a meeting and decided that they were opposed to the creation 
of a grazing district in this area. At this time, livestock grazing outside of grazing districts was 
authorized by grazing leases on public land and these leases were issued under the authority of 
Section 15 of the Taylor Grazing Act of 1934.  

After the Battle Mountain Grazing District No. 6 was established, grazing use was adjudicated 
within the district based on grazing units and established grazing allotments within these units 
based on allotment agreements. The Shannon Station/Spanish Gulch Allotment, currently 
administered by the Mount Lewis Field Office of the BLM, was established and adjudicated in 
1965 within the Diamond Valley Unit. 

DISCUSSION: 

According to the Diamond Valley Unit Adjudication and Allotment Agreement (1965), the 
grazing preference within the Hunter Allotment (Shannon Station) and James Ithurralde Spanish 
Gulch Allotment (Spanish Gulch) was adjudicated to John and Kay Hunter and James Ithurralde. 
The sheep grazing use within this area, held by James Ithurralde, was limited to the Spanish 
Gulch area of the Hunter Allotment and cattle to be used in common within this area as well as 
the remainder of the allotment.  

Since the adjudication of grazing within this area, James Ithurralde had leased his grazing 
preference to Larralde Sheep Co. from 1998 to 2007 and then to Gary Snow Livestock and Grain 
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from 2008 to 2017. In 2017, this grazing preference fully transferred to 2 Bit Ranch, LLC who 
currently holds the grazing preference and grazing permit with the Spanish Gulch area of the 
Shannon Station/Spanish Gulch Allotment.  

John and Kay Hunter transferred their grazing preference to E. L. Cleveland in 1970. The 
grazing preference was then transferred to Robert and Irene Campbell in 1971, to George and 
Loma Schwin in 1974, and then directly over to Walter and Jeanette Baumann in 1974. The 
Simpson Creek Ranch, under James Baumann, maintained this grazing permit until it was then 
transferred to James Baumann (son) in 1995. Simpson Creek Ranch temporarily leased to Tony 
Latham from 1991 to 1993 and to Seven N. Cattle from 1993 to 1994. The grazing preference 
transferred to the Baumann Family Trust in 2011 and they currently hold the grazing preference 
and grazing permit for the Shannon Station/Spanish Gulch Allotment.   

Peter J. and Gladys P. Goicoechea filed a Proof of Appropriation of Water for Stock Watering 
Purposes in 1915 (V01423), before the Battle Mountain Grazing District No. 6 had been 
established and before the 1965 adjudication of grazing of the Diamond Valley Unit. According 
to BLM records, Peter J. and Gladys P. Goicoechea have not held a grazing preference within the 
current Shannon Station/Spanish Gulch Allotment since at least 1965 when the adjudication of 
grazing for this area occurred. The current grazing preferences and only grazing preferences in 
the Shannon Station/Spanish Gulch allotments are currently held by the Baumann Family Trust 
and 2 Bit Ranch, LLC.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

Diamond Valley Unit Adjudication and Allotment Agreement 

Diamond Valley Unit Adjudication Summary and Record  

Transfer History for Spanish Gulch 

Transfer History for Shannon Station 

2 Bit Ranch LLC Grazing Permit 

Baumann Family Trust Grazing Permit 
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